# For Official Use



Organisation de Coopération et de Développement Economiques Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

24-May-2006

English - Or. English

### STATISTICS DIRECTORATE COMMITTEE ON STATISTICS

STD/CSTAT(2006)9 For Official Use



# JT03209486

Document complet disponible sur OLIS dans son format d'origine Complete document available on OLIS in its original format

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	3
PREAMBLE	4
Purpose of the Paper	4
Background to the establishment of an Entrepreneurship Indicators Project at the OECD	4
Overview of the phases, timing and funding for the development of entrepreneurship indicators	5
I. SCOPING EXERCISE: OVERVIEW OF EXISTING ENTREPRENEURSHIP RESEARCH AND DATA	8
The importance of Entrepreneurship	8
Entrepreneurship and Job Creation.	9
Highlights of Entrepreneurship Activities and Research at the OECD	10
Entrepreneurship Policies	12
Entrepreneurship Concepts and Definitions	14
Existing Entrepreneurship Data	16
II. AN OECD PROPOSAL FOR INTERNATIONAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP INDICATORS	16
A Collaborative Approach to Assembling and Developing Data	16
Advantages of OECD-led International Measurement	24
Priority Topics for New Data Collection	25
Summary	28
ANNEX 1. POSSIBLE ENTREPRENEURSHIP INDICATORS	29
ANNOTATED BIBLIOGRAPHY	32

#### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

- The Statistics Directorate has undertaken a study to explore the need for, and feasibility of, international indicators regarding entrepreneurship.
- There is widespread policy interest in entrepreneurship, including within the OECD. Researchers argue about the link between entrepreneurship and growth, but everyone wants entrepreneurship even if the link to growth is not clear.
- There is a fairly extensive body of theoretical literature on entrepreneurship, its determinants and impacts but relatively little empirical work has been done by policy analysts to analyse and compare entrepreneurship measures. In part this is due to the fact that limited data is available, especially international data.
- There are myriad definitions that describe the notion of entrepreneurship in terms of high-level principles, but those definitions are not easily reflected through statistical measures. Some relatively straight-forward measures exist, but they do not necessarily reflect the entrepreneurship objectives that policy-makers want to pursue.
- The links between entrepreneurship and the objectives that countries pursue through entrepreneurship should be clear, but that is often not the case. Furthermore, different countries pursue different objectives through entrepreneurship so no single definition would satisfy all.
- Countries have a strong desire to understand levels of entrepreneurship and factors that influence them. They also want to compare themselves to others so they can determine where it makes sense to copy successful policies, and where it does not.
- Entrepreneurship data are in a relatively early state of development and this is an ideal time to introduce international harmonisation. The Statistics Directorate, with the support of the Centre for Entrepreneurship, SMEs and Local Development (CFE), and other Directorates is proposing that the OECD take a lead role in developing a set of common entrepreneurship indicators.
- Various stakeholders have argued in favour of better international entrepreneurship data but cautions have been raised as well. The OECD have been encouraged to exploit existing data, extend existing models and take a consultative approach that always links data development to policy interests and a clear research agenda. Furthermore, innovation in the collection or compilation of data is counselled. The dynamic entrepreneurs and entrepreneurial firms that are of interest are perhaps the least willing, or able, to accept significant burden of statistical queries.
- The OECD proposal envisages the development of entrepreneurship indicators through a logical, step-by-step process. There are numerous government policy interests related to entrepreneurship and the OECD proposes to produce a periodic "Scoreboard" of internationally-comparable entrepreneurship indicators to assist evidence-based policy making. Data for the OECD Entrepreneurship Scoreboard will be drawn from both existing and new sources. A Manual for Measurement will be produced, to include definitions, methodologies and a framework of indicators. An OECD Entrepreneurship Indicators Steering Group will co-ordinate inputs from a network of interested bodies to ensure that deliberations and decisions on various aspects of entrepreneurship measurement reflect policy interests and meet OECD criteria for international indicators.
- A Pilot Survey, to be conducted in several interested countries, will allow the OECD to develop and test the governance and management structures and other aspects of international collaboration that will enable ongoing, periodic collection of international entrepreneurship data.
- The Kauffman Foundation, the initial sponsor of the Scoping Report and Action Plan, has agreed to provide part of the funding required for the next Phase of the Project. Funding is also being provided by a Consortium of countries interested in international Entrepreneurship Indicators development. The Statistics Directorate is seeking further funding for Phase II through to December 2008.

### PREAMBLE

# **Purpose of the Paper**

1. This Paper presents the Report resulting from the first Phase of the OECD's Entrepreneurship Indicators Project, largely sponsored by the Kauffman Foundation of the United States. The Paper comprises two major sections: the first providing an overview of entrepreneurship research, policy and existing data; the second presenting an OECD Action Plan. Readers wishing to skip directly to the OECD Proposal moving forward with the development of an Entrepreneurship Indicators Programme should turn to page 16.

## Background to the establishment of an Entrepreneurship Indicators Project at the OECD

2. For many years, economists and policymakers have identified "entrepreneurs" as important drivers for employment, innovation and economic growth. While it is generally accepted that entrepreneurship is "good", the links between entrepreneurship and various facets of economic growth are less well understood. The interest of both developed and developing countries in how government policies and other national "business environment" factors influence the rates and types of entrepreneurship has increased considerably in recent years.

3. While there is considerable interest in entrepreneurship throughout OECD countries, there is, as yet, neither an overall entrepreneurship statistical framework, including concepts and definitions, nor an agreed-to list of the key indicators that are required to improve the collective understanding of entrepreneurship and its impacts. This situation has been due, in part, to financial constraints and also to differing statistical priorities among member countries. The OECD began to focus attention on entrepreneurship as part of its "Jobs Strategy" in the latter part of the 1990s and there have been some specific efforts to assemble information on entrepreneurship as part of Country Surveys and a number of targeted analytical pieces on entrepreneurship and/or growth. A brief summary of the OECD's work related to entrepreneurship is provided in the section "Highlights of Entrepreneurship Activities and Research at the OECD", below.

4. In addition to this analytical work, the OECD also maintains some SME- and entrepreneurshiprelated information in databases such as those on structural business statistics and labour force activities for member countries. Furthermore, data on R&D and innovation in databases maintained by Directorate for Science, Technology and Industry (DSTI) also might provide some useful insights into entrepreneurial behaviour in countries, though the inability to classify much of this information by firm size or age, or link it to an "entrepreneur", limits the utility of this data for entrepreneurship studies. In order to fully contribute to the policy debate and facilitate the development of specific evidence-based entrepreneurship policies there is a need for a more focussed and comprehensive programme of data on entrepreneurship.

5. In 2004, a number of developments conspired to give important impetus to the work on the development of new entrepreneurship statistics. An OECD Ministerial Meeting in Istanbul in 2004 called for countries to develop more robust statistics on entrepreneurship and SMEs to improve policy development and monitoring.<sup>1</sup> Also, a number of key OECD countries, led by Denmark, formed a small Consortium entitled the International Consortium for Dynamic Entrepreneurship Benchmarking<sup>2</sup>. The countries all demonstrated their commitment to improving entrepreneurship data through financial contributions and the Consortium, in turn, provided some financial and research support to help the OECD

<sup>1.</sup> The Istanbul Ministerial also resulted in the creation of the Centre for Entrepreneurship, SMEs and Local Development at the OECD and this body has been a strong voice for better international entrepreneurship data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The members of the Consortium are Canada, Denmark, England, Finland, the Netherlands, Norway and Sweden.

advance its entrepreneurship data work. Finally, the Kauffman Foundation of the United States, which has long supported practical research aimed at facilitating successful entrepreneurship, also offered financial resources. The OECD Statistics Directorate responded with two data initiatives that reflected the heightened priority and profile of this work.

6. First, the OECD established a new Entrepreneurship Indicators Project (EIP) to explore options for developing better, internationally-comparable statistics on entrepreneurship. Work on the Project is proceeding in phases and the first phase focussed on an examination of the feasibility of developing an international entrepreneurship indicators programme and the steps required to put such a programme in place. The present Paper is largely devoted to reporting on that feasibility study and presenting the Action Plan for moving forward. An overview of the work undertaken or planned in the three phases of the Entrepreneurship Indicators Project, along with the strategy for funding the activities, is provided below.

7. Second, within the Structural Business Statistics programme, the OECD has launched a series of initiatives whose ultimate aim is to develop internationally-comparable business demography statistics. One initiative, which was supported by the International Consortium on Dynamic Entrepreneurship Benchmarking, was a study to compare data on start-up rates across countries in order to understand how differences in national concepts and methods impact on comparability. Another important undertaking is the development of a Framework for Business Demography including key concepts and definitions. Part of that work is reflected herein.

# Overview of the phases, timing and funding for the development of entrepreneurship indicators

8. The *Entrepreneurship Indicators Project* (EIP) was launched In May 2005 and work is proceeding in three phases:

- 1. Scoping Study and Action Plan
- 2. Model Programme, Infrastructure and Pilot Survey
- 3. Implementation and Dissemination

9. "Start-up" or seed financing was provided for Phase One and the proposed Action Plan, along with the background Scoping Report, are presented herein. The OECD is currently completing arrangements for funding of Phase Two.

## Phase One

10. Throughout 2005 the Project gathered information on entrepreneurship policies and programmes, on analytical work in the field and on existing national and international data. An Expert Workshop, *Understanding Entrepreneurship: Issues and Numbers* was held in October 2005 and it provided considerable input from leading entrepreneurship researchers and policy analysts. Participants confirmed the importance of entrepreneurship and the need for comparable international indicators. They also voiced strong support for an OECD role in facilitating and co-ordinating entrepreneurship measurement. Finally, additional information on existing entrepreneurship data and demands for new or improved measures of entrepreneurship and its determinants was obtained through the Workshop.

11. The EIP has engaged OECD country representatives in discussions about the need for international entrepreneurship data and the best approaches to developing such data. Groups consulted to date include the Statistical Working Party of the Industry Committee (SWIC), the Working Party on SMEs and Entrepreneurship (WPSME), the Business and Industry Advisory Council (BIAC) and the Expert Group on Business Statistics (SBS-Net). Other international organisations with considerable interest in entrepreneurship data have also been consulted, including ILO, UNCTAD, Eurostat and several

Directorates-General of the European Commission. The EIP has also developed an extensive network of entrepreneurship researchers in many different countries and this network has contributed significantly to the understanding of entrepreneurship issues and the determination of priorities for a future program of entrepreneurship indicators.

12. In addition to the network of countries and experts, which will constitute an important component of the future indicators programme, the principal outputs of the Phase One work include an identification of policy priorities, an inventory of existing data, a list of desired indicators, and the proposed Action Plan for an international Entrepreneurship Indicators Programme. Other important OECD outputs during Phase One are "An International Comparison of Start-Ups Rates" and "A Proposed Framework for Business Demography Statistics", including definitions for a number of key entrepreneurship-related variables.<sup>3</sup>

# Phase Two

13. The work of Phase Two will largely consist of implementation of the Action Plan or "OECD Proposal" that is set out in some detail below. Additional activities in support of the development of the Entrepreneurship Indicators Programme, such as research conferences on entrepreneurship data, will be undertaken in Phase Two as funding permits.

14. Any OECD-led entrepreneurship data program will be complementary to existing data in the field. If appropriate the OECD might work with other organisations to extend surveys to a larger number of countries or to integrate existing measures into a broader program.

# Phase Three

15. Phase Three of the Entrepreneurship Indicators work would begin in the latter part of 2008 and it would be ongoing as periodic collection of data and release of indicators is anticipated. Using the results of the Pilot Survey and other Phase Two statistical work, the EIP staff would engage both OECD and non-OECD countries to extend the network of participants in an entrepreneurship data program beyond the group participating in Phase Two.

16. The overall governance and management structure for the entrepreneurship data programme would be finalised and the first complete data collection, compilation and dissemination exercise would take place across a number of OECD and non-OECD countries. Participating countries would fund their own data collection activities but funds would still be required to support co-ordination and ongoing data development within the OECD itself.

# Project Funding

17. While the OECD provides important infrastructure support for the EIP, the Project costs themselves are entirely financed by outside sources. Like a new business, start-up and early-stage financing are required to develop the concept and plan and then also to develop and produce products that can be offered to clients for sale. Following this analogy, the EIP requires funding for most of the activities in Phases I and II of its work. The Kauffman Foundation of the United States provided the majority of funds for Phase I and will provide substantial funding for Phase II as well. The International Consortium on Dynamic Entrepreneurship Benchmarking supported related OECD work on business Demography in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ahmad, Nadim, "A Proposed Framework for Business Demography Statistics", Statistics Directorate, OECD, March 2006; and Vale, Steven, "International Comparison of Start-Up Rates", Statistics Directorate, OECD, January 2006.

Phase I and will provide funds for work by the EIP in Phase II. The full implementation of a programme to assemble comparable international entrepreneurship indicators will require involvement and funding commitments by participating countries and by other bodies in addition to the existing sponsors. The OECD is actively seeking additional funding for Phase II and is currently engaged in discussions with organisations that are interested in supporting this work.

18. The chart below sets out the work plan, timing and funding requirements for the Entrepreneurship Indicators Project over the three phases of the Project.



# Figure 1. Entrepreneurship Indicators Project (EIP) Timetable

# I. SCOPING EXERCISE: OVERVIEW OF EXISTING ENTREPRENEURSHIP RESEARCH AND DATA

# The importance of Entrepreneurship

19. In recent years, entrepreneurship has been receiving a lot of attention from governments, academics, business support groups and others. Nurturing entrepreneurship is an explicit policy priority for many OECD countries, whether they already have significant levels of entrepreneurship or they are seen to be trailing the leaders in this domain.

20. Entrepreneurship programmes exist throughout the OECD. Ireland encourages expatriates to return to set up firms while Japan assists those in older age groups to be entrepreneurial. The European Community (EC) issued a Green Paper on entrepreneurship in 2003, detailing benefits and encouraging joint work on common practices. The EC followed with an Action Plan on entrepreneurship in 2004 and, subsequently, they regularly monitor progress on factors that affect entrepreneurship as well as on specific pro-entrepreneurship activities of member countries.<sup>4</sup> The UK has also repeatedly stressed the importance of entrepreneurship is well documented and they have taken the lead to engage six other OECD countries in an International Consortium to support common understanding of issues and to tackle international measurement issues. In North America, Canada and the United States have public sector programs in place to support entrepreneurship, and many quasi-public or private bodies also support the development and growth of new and/or small businesses. Numerous countries use entrepreneurship as a component of regional development or assistance to depressed areas.

21. For many, the benefits of entrepreneurship are clear. Entrepreneurship is viewed as a critical activity to regenerate and sustain economic growth in strong economies and also as a means of boosting employment and productivity in depressed regions or in developing countries. The dynamic process of new firm creation introduces and disperses innovative products, processes and organisational structures throughout the economy. As firms enter and exit the market, theory suggests that the new arrivals will be more efficient than those they displace. Furthermore, existing firms that are not driven out are forced to innovate and become more productive to compete. Empirical support for this process of "creative destruction", first described by Schumpeter, has been provided by numerous studies by the OECD and others.<sup>5</sup> Entrepreneurship is a major force in economic dynamism.

22. At the OECD Expert Workshop: Understanding Entrepreneurship; Issues and Data, numerous aspects of the importance of entrepreneurship were identified by presenters, but two were underscored. The first relates to links between entrepreneurship and economic growth. The second concerns the role that entrepreneurship could play in improving the economic and social position of groups within society.

23. There was some debate about whether entrepreneurship causes economic growth or whether it is a facilitator or enabler of economic change. Whilst that debate continues Workshop participants agreed that economic growth was assisted by a positive entrepreneurial climate.

24. The link between entrepreneurship, productivity and economic growth was examined. The evidence appeared to be that both entry and exit played a very powerful role in enhancing productivity. If anything it appeared that if entrepreneurship led to the more rapid exit of low productivity firms, that this was particularly desirable when they were replaced by new firms that were more productive.

<sup>4.</sup> Commission of the European Communities, 2003 and 2004.

<sup>5.</sup> Conway, Paul, et al., "Product Market Regulation And Productivity Growth", OECD 2005.

25. It was recognised that entrepreneurship could also play an important social function. Some ethnic minorities, throughout history, have seen entrepreneurship as a way of escaping from disadvantage. In particular, recent immigrants have often used entrepreneurship as a means of integrating into the economic life of their new country. Other researchers pointed to the use of entrepreneurship by women as a means to avoid dealing with the male-controlled corporate structure.

26. The U.S. record of high employment, high productivity and high economic growth is envied by many other countries. Many observers suggest that entrepreneurship and new firm creation (and turnover) are major factors behind the differences in economic performance. However, rates of firm exit and entry are not significantly different in the United States than, say, in Europe. What may be different, though, is the way the new firms grow in the U.S., and how they displace the former leaders. In this regard, it appears that the U.S. and Europe are moving apart. Eight out of the largest 25 firms in America in 1998 did not exist, or were very small, in 1960 while the largest 25 European firms in 1998 were already large in 1960. And this turnover at the top continues at a brisk pace in the American economy. It took 20 years to replace 1/3 of the Fortune 500 companies listed in 1960 yet only 4 years to replace 1/3 of those listed in 1998.<sup>6</sup>

27. Countries have not only shown interest in understanding entrepreneurship and its determinants within their borders, they have also expressed the desire to share and compare ideas and information concerning entrepreneurship. Nurturing entrepreneurship is non-competitive across countries. Successful entrepreneurial activity in one country does not reduce opportunities for entrepreneurship in another. "Entrepreneurship has always been important, but its role stands out in the present time of innovative change. Fostering a climate to help instil greater dynamism in the creation and expansion of firms is fundamental."<sup>7</sup>

## Entrepreneurship and Job Creation

28. One of the questions that continues to arise concerns the role of small or new businesses in job creation. The fact that the issue is raised at all indicates significant changes in thinking over time. In North America, throughout the post-war years and well into the 1960s, governments and the public showed complete faith in the large corporation as the source of jobs and growth. Small firms were granted little attention and were considered as extras playing minor, bit parts in the economic theatre.

29. Now, a few decades later, many consider small and new businesses as the dominant force in the economy. This change in thinking began with the pioneering longitudinal studies of job creation in the U.S. by David Birch first released in 1979. His research, which showed that small firms created more jobs than large ones, was initially dismissed by many and his methods and sources were discredited. Canadian research in the early 1980s<sup>8</sup> showed results similar to those of Birch, and elicited similar reactions. Today, numerous studies have looked at job creation from many perspectives and the notion that SMEs create the majority of new jobs has become conventional wisdom for many – though not all. And even those who still favour the small-business-job-machine image realise that the net, national job creation figures are an oversimplification that hides the true nature of job creation and how dynamics change over time in response to various factors.

<sup>6.</sup> Commission of the European Communities, 2003.

<sup>7.</sup> OECD 2001 new economy beyond the hype.

<sup>8.</sup> Canadian Federation of Independent Business.

30. While debate about sources of jobs continues, it appears that differences are often due to concepts and measuring methods rather than any underlying differences in data. If a firm is categorised as small, upon entry, and then all subsequent employment growth is assigned to that original category, then virtually 100% of employment growth will be due to small firms. After all, virtually all firms were small at entry. But such a definition may not be helpful in a policy context. Approaches that will facilitate development of small firms will have little applicability to large corporations even though those corporations were once in the small category. Perhaps different measures of job creation are appropriate for different policy instruments.

31. While new firms are undoubtedly important, it is likely that established firms in most developed economies still generated the majority of gross new jobs. Evidence for Canada and the U.S. is illustrative in this regard.

32. One of the indisputable truths that has emerged from the job creation research is that slow changing total job figures, and even annual net job change figures, mask tremendous turbulence in job markets by geography and by sector as well as in the overall economy. Indeed, even within the firm, net job figures may hide the creation and destruction that takes place in different occupations.

33. Evidence confirms that the Schumpeterian process of creative destruction does indeed raise productivity and efficiency. Canadian studies shows that new firms are more productive and pay higher wages than exiting firms in a variety of industries. But new firm creation is not the sole contributor to productivity and employment growth. Existing firms also exhibit churn as some grow while others contract, without any entry or exit. Indeed, even within firms there is undoubtedly both expansion and contraction going on all the time, but very few measures would capture that internal churning since firm dynamics start with net figures at the firm level.

## Highlights of Entrepreneurship Activities and Research at the OECD

34. The OECD has a long history of interest in entrepreneurship, but work has generally consisted of ad hoc, special studies or brief references to entrepreneurship in larger analytical works. Several papers by the DSTI and the Economics Department (ECO) have explored the relationship between new firm creation and economic performance. From time to time, data have also been assembled on particular aspects of entrepreneurship or on factors that may be related to levels or rates of entrepreneurship. For example, some SME data is maintained within the OECD business statistics data base and the Firm Level Data Project attempted to harmonise firm entry and exit data for ten OECD countries. A brief overview of some of the activities is provided below.

35. In 1992 the OECD Industry Committee requested compilation of statistics in support of more policy-oriented, empirical work on SMEs. The sustained high levels of unemployment across the OECD in the early nineties prompted analysts to focus attention on the relation between enterprise size and employment creation. Much of this work was presented at an OECD High-Level Workshop on SMEs: Employment, Innovation and Growth in 1995. An overview of the quantitative studies was presented in an OECD Working Paper in 1996 (Schreyer, 1996).

36. Various analytical studies in recent years have also illustrated the OECD emphasis on entrepreneurship. Among them, Fostering Entrepreneurship: The OECD Jobs Strategy (1998), the Final Report of the OECD Growth Project, (2001), Firm Dynamics work by ECO, a study of Entrepreneurship and Local Development, by Alistair Nolan of the Local Economic and Employment Development Programme (LEED) (2003) and the work on Micro-Policies for Growth and Productivity (2005) are worth noting.

37. The OECD Jobs Strategy was a further initiative designed to find solutions to the high levels of unemployment that persisted in many OECD countries throughout the nineties. Entrepreneurship emerged as one of the promising ways of stimulating job creation without distorting market forces and the study Fostering Entrepreneurship (1998) was an effort to understand the factors that effect entrepreneurship both in general and in specific country situations. While recognising that no accepted standard for measuring entrepreneurship had been established, the study nonetheless determined that levels or rates of entrepreneurship varied considerably across OECD countries. The five-country study (Australia, The Netherlands, Spain, Sweden and the US) concluded that none of the countries had a perfect environment for entrepreneurship and thus that all could learn from the experiences of others. Based on the analysis of these five countries, a series of broad policy guidelines were enunciated. While the broad guidelines establish an excellent framework for further empirical examination, the work was never extended across a larger number of countries, in part due to a lack of international data.

38. In 2002, an OECD study of firm dynamics<sup>9</sup> using a new firm-level database revealed some interesting features of firm dynamics across OECD countries. Perhaps not surprisingly, it was found that burdensome regulation and costly workforce adjustment diminished the entry of new, small firms. It was also noted that in the US, entrant firms were smaller, and initially less productive, than those in Europe. Surviving firms in the US, however, expanded more rapidly than those in Europe.

39. The objective of the OECD Growth Project was to investigate the causes of differences in growth performance in OECD countries. The final report identified and investigated areas of major impact and strongly endorsed the positive role of entrepreneurship. In particular, the study showed that start-up businesses in the field of ICT and new technology sectors contributed strongly to productivity growth. Among the five key policy recommendations was one calling for action to stimulate firm creation and a variety of factors affecting creation rates were examined. As a result, additional recommendations on improving access to finance, reducing administrative burdens, removing barriers to entry, reducing bankruptcy and insolvency costs, improving entrepreneurship education and management training and promoting entrepreneurship spirit, were all advised.

40. The LEED study analysed many contributions of entrepreneurship to local development but cautioned against naïve expectations that entrepreneurship programmes would provide for quick solutions to problems such as unemployment. Indeed, the study noted that employment creation through entrepreneurship was often modest and was rarely a solution to the social exclusion of large numbers of persons with marginal skills. Nevertheless, the study argued that other benefits of entrepreneurship promotion, including reductions in the duration of unemployment and increases in productivity and incomes, provided suitable rationale for cost-effective measures to foster entrepreneurship. In keeping with findings of other OECD studies, the author noted that the principal rational for entrepreneurship policies must be to address factors that impede the proper functioning of markets, rather than introduce measures to replace the role of markets.

41. The study on Micro-Policies for Growth and Productivity, sought to identify the critical and successful policy areas for each of the micro-drivers of growth – entrepreneurship, information and communications technology (ICT), innovation and human capital – through a quantitative benchmarking methodology. This work established some pioneering methodologies for better understanding entrepreneurship in particular and it also highlighted some weaknesses in currently-available indicators.

42. In order to support solid evidenced-based policy and allow assessments and adjustments as required, the study noted that goals of entrepreneurship policy and strategy must be clear and explicit. This will not only enhance assessment of feasibility but also help to avoid duplicative or conflicting

<sup>9.</sup> Scarpetta, Hemmings, Tressel, Woo (2002).

programmes. The enquiries suggested that policy decisions and assessments were often based on limited empirical evidence and the study noted the paucity of data for specifically examining local entrepreneurship issues. It was recommended that the OECD promote longitudinal studies, designed to include micro-enterprises that are missed in other official statistics, which are conducted at the local level, though using consistent methodologies across countries. By centralising the statistical development work, the study argued, costs for individual countries would be minimised but the value of the resulting policyrelevant data would be maximised, given the ability to make international comparisons.

43. Finally, the OECD Bologna Process, which was launched with the first Ministerial Conference in 2000, is a very significant initiative by the Organisation to broadened the dialogue on SMEs and entrepreneurship and stimulate more meaningful interchange between analysts and policy makers. A second Ministerial Conference in Istanbul in 2004 stressed the need for evidence-based policy making and called for efforts to strengthen the statistical base for cross-country, comparative analysis. Specifically, it was recommended that "An internationally comparable set of indicators should be developed for monitoring the level of entrepreneurial activity and the entrepreneurial environment in each country."<sup>10</sup>

# Entrepreneurship Policies

44. What are the questions facing policy-makers in OECD countries? Are they convinced of the value of entrepreneurship and are they now trying to find the right balance of policies to enhance entrepreneurial activity? Are there still unanswered questions about the importance of entrepreneurship?

45. Entrepreneurship appears to be of considerable interest to policy-makers everywhere, whether they are convinced that entrepreneurs are the dominant force in economic development or just significant contributors. But there are many different perspectives on entrepreneurship, often within the same country. For example, entrepreneurship is often linked to regional development programs. Stimulating the creation of new firms is seen as a tool to boost employment and output of depressed regions. In other examples, entrepreneurship is a key element of strategies designed to facilitate the participation of certain target groups, such as women or minorities, in the economy. Finally, programs aimed at boosting competitiveness often identify high-growth entrepreneurship as a key to innovation and productivity growth. In each of these cases, there is a different concept of who is an entrepreneur.

46. While many countries have embraced entrepreneurship as a means of reviving or sustaining economic growth, there remain many questions about the impact of entrepreneurship itself as well as about the best means to encourage entrepreneurial activities. Are there different types of entrepreneurship and, if so, are some entrepreneurial pursuits more beneficial for economic prosperity than others? Can the process of entrepreneurship itself be rendered more efficient and more productive?

47. For many, there is still need to better understand the role of the entrepreneur, who is commonly associated with new and/or small firms, in job creation and economic growth. Others are convinced of the direct link between entrepreneurship and job creation and they want to determine the best way to encourage entrepreneurship and move beyond firm creation to firm growth.

48. If increasing levels of entrepreneurship are sought in all countries, do countries have common goals? What are the policy goals of governments in the area of entrepreneurship? Is the goal simply to maximise the number of new entrants? Since evidence suggests that the churning effect of entry and exit is beneficial, should policy facilitate exit as well? Once established, is it better for a firm to prosper and grow for a long period of time or do new dynamic firms quickly become old less productive firms that should, in turn, exit to make way for another more dynamic entrant? Many definitions of entrepreneurship effectively

<sup>10.</sup> Fostering Entrepreneurship and Firm Creation as a Driver of Growth in a Global Economy, OECD, 2004.

assume that the entrepreneur's activities do not warrant further study after the firm is a few years old. Few measures try to capture the contributions of the serial entrepreneurs, whether they are repeatedly starting brand new firms or launching new initiatives within an existing corporate structure.

49. In discussions concerning entrepreneurship data gaps, many noted the importance of measuring the contributions of existing firms and entrepreneurs. If government policy interests relate to job and productivity growth, then established entrepreneurs are just as valuable as new ones. As some observers noted, isn't it likely that a dynamic entrepreneur will continue to hatch bright ideas and develop them into growing businesses; or that an entrepreneur will innovate and raise productivity both within an existing firm as well as through new firms?

50. The role of venture capital and other forms of financing, in stimulating entrepreneurship and firm growth also raises policy questions that warrant further study. Additional policy issues concern the relationships between government research labs and businesses that might commercialise such work. Views are often sharply divided on this point both across and within countries. Some feel that individuals should not benefit from knowledge creation funded by all taxpayers; others applaud such initiatives and point out the ongoing benefits to society of job growth, increased output and even greater tax payments.

51. Finally, a fundamental policy question relates to the very notion of a "government role" in entrepreneurship. For some, the answer is self-evident: "Governments have no role. Entrepreneurship is about individuals taking actions on their own." But others argue that such an approach is unrealistic in a complex economic system that already has myriad regulations and programmes in place. Thus, for many, there is considerable room for governments to facilitate entrepreneurship in a non-interventionist way. A smooth-running market economy is the best way to encourage entrepreneurship, rather than direct support. For example, the "business-friendly" infrastructure in the U.S. is supported by competition law that discourage monopolies and unfair competition as well as by intellectual property rights that protect a firm's valuable, but often intangible, knowledge assets.

52. Some countries have established firm policy agendas concerning entrepreneurship. Others are still considering options and priorities. Policy makers in Europe, for example, have concluded that differences in levels, rates and perhaps even types of entrepreneurship between Europe and the U.S. are significant factors in the U.S.'s record of low unemployment, high productivity, high per capita income and high rates of growth. The European Union as a whole, and many of the member states on their own, have fixed on a clear policy agenda that embraces entrepreneurship as a means of addressing problems such as continuing high levels of unemployment and lagging productivity growth. Through its Green Paper on Entrepreneurship (2003) and its Action Plan the EC has identified five key policy areas that will help make Europe more entrepreneural:

- Entrepreneurial mindsets or attitudes
- Encouraging more people to become entrepreneurs
- Gearing entrepreneurs for growth and competitiveness
- Improving finance
- Making administration and regulation more SME-friendly

53. The challenge now for analysts and policy makers in Europe and elsewhere is to find the key factors that will lead to improvements in each of these areas to determine how to influence those factors to operate in a way that is conducive to entrepreneurship without introducing market distortions.

54. Despite the abundance of entrepreneurship policies and the explosion of entrepreneurship research in recent years, there still seems to be a disconnect between research and policy. Perhaps the most

comprehensive reviews of entrepreneurship policy have been done by Lundström and Stevenson and they have characterised SME Policy as an area where "a great deal of trail and error persists", and noted that it "lacks a theoretical base."<sup>11</sup> Indeed, many countries rely on case studies and best practices, rather than empirical evidence, to assess the impact of their entrepreneurship programmes. Myriad statistics are used to show a need to boost or at least maintain the level of entrepreneurship; but very few of these statistics are commonly defined or collected across countries to allow for international comparisons.

# Entrepreneurship Concepts and Definitions

# A Brief History of Entrepreneurship Definitions

55. Scholars have dedicated almost three centuries to the attempt to define the concept of entrepreneurship. The lack of consensus may, in part, be due to the fact that entrepreneurship isn't neatly contained within any single academic domain. Indeed, many disciplines have contributed their perspectives on the concept of entrepreneurship, including psychology (Shaver & Scott, 1991), sociology (Reynolds, 1991, Thorton, 1999), economics (Cantillon, 1730; Marshall, 1890; Knight, 1921; Schumpeter, 1934 and 1949) and management (Stevenson, 1985).Given the heightened interest in entrepreneurship in recent years, it is unlikely this multi-disciplinary interest will diminish any time soon. Nevertheless, given the orientation of the OECD's work, we will focus on the economists' definitions of entrepreneurship and the factors related to it.

56. The French economist Richard Cantillon<sup>12</sup> is generally accredited with being the first to coin the term "entrepreneurship" in about 1730. Loosely, he defined entrepreneurship as self-employment of any sort, and entrepreneurs as risk-takers, in the sense that they purchased goods at certain prices in the present to sell at uncertain prices in the future.

57. Many eminent economists elaborated on Cantillon's contribution, adding leadership and recognizing entrepreneurship, through organization, as a fourth factor of production, but the key tenets of risk taking and profit were nearly always retained as important features of entrepreneurship. Early on, Adam Smith (1776) wrote about entrepreneurship when he observed that division of labour discouraged innovation because of repetition. Alfred Marshall (1890) identified entrepreneurship as a crucial factor of production alongside land, capital and labour. Say (1803) stressed the importance of management vs. ownership in an enterprise and identified the entrepreneur as the manager.

58. It was not until Joseph Schumpeter's definition of an entrepreneur in 1934 however, that the more modern interpretation, relating entrepreneurship, additionally, to innovation, entered the mainstream. Schumpeter defined entrepreneurs as innovators who implement entrepreneurial change within markets, where entrepreneurial change has 5 manifestations: 1) the introduction of a new (or improved) good; 2) the introduction of a new method of production; 3) the opening of a new market; 4) the exploitation of a new source of supply; and 5) the re-engineering/organization of business management processes. Schumpeter's definition therefore equates entrepreneurship with innovation in the business sense; that is identifying market opportunities and using innovative approaches to exploit them.

59. However although Schumpeter's definition embodies a characteristic of entrepreneurship that is widely recognized today, namely, innovation, it still retains some ambiguity that has meant the debate regarding a definition of entrepreneurs/hip continues; although, to some extent, this reflects the definition of innovation, in particular whether it relates to incremental or quantum changes. Indeed some (Drucker, 1985) have argued that entrepreneurship reflects merely the creation of a new organization and that any

<sup>11.</sup> Lundstrom and Stevenson, "On the Road to Entrepreneurship Policy", 2002.

<sup>12.</sup> The word entrepreneur itself derives from the French verb entreprendre, meaning 'to undertake'.

individual who starts a new business venture is an entrepreneur; even those that fail to make a profit. Although, it could be argued that this corresponds to Schumpeter's 'opening of a new market'.

60. The debate still continues but it is perhaps best summed up by the economist Peter Kilby<sup>13</sup> who in 1971 compared those who study entrepreneurship to characters in Winnie The Pooh hunting for the mysterious and elusive Heffalump. Like the economists and scholars, familiar with entrepreneurs and their contribution to economic growth, and who have attempted over the years to define an entrepreneur, the hunters in Winnie the Pooh all claimed to know about the Heffalump but none could agree on its characteristics.

# Measuring Entrepreneurship

61. While the academic debate over the concept of entrepreneurship is interesting, the real focus of the entrepreneurship indicators work is measures that will inform the development of good policy. Even in cases where a fairly clear definition has been enunciated, it is difficult to find a measurement tool that matches the terminology that has been chosen. For example, the European Commission has defined entrepreneurship as "the mindset and process needed to create and develop economic activity by blending risk-taking, creativity and/or innovation with sound management, within a new or existing organisation". While conceptually appealing, it would be difficult to convey this notion on a questionnaire in a way that would invite consistent interpretation by all respondents.

62. The practical definition, or measure, of entrepreneurship that one chooses will ultimately depend on the nature of the policy objective. If policy makers are interested in employment creation, they may focus on a measure that seems most directly linked to jobs, such as self-employment or new firm creation, no matter what the size or growth rate of the firm. If the policy objective is competitiveness or productivity growth, however, a measure of entrepreneurship that distinguishes high growth or innovative firms may be preferred. In this case, the firm population of interest may exclude zero-employee firms (self employment), or even very small firms, from the population of young businesses in order to get a better count of the growth business population.

63. Relevant measures will also depend on the national context and structure of the business population. For many in the United States, new firm creation is paramount and efforts are made to ensure that only pure, new firm creations are measured. In France, however, while new firm creation is carefully measured, so too are "reprises" which involve the takeover of some or all of the factors of production of an existing firm. Since the growth and survival characteristics of the population of reprises are different, and often superior, to those of the pure-birth firms, tracking of both populations is worthwhile. Given that the demographic profile of today's business owners suggests that many existing firms may be closed or offered for sale, it is likely that more countries will want to track take-overs, mergers, revivals and other forms of business continuity or resumption, as well as pure births.

64. Finally, there is a debate about whether studies of entrepreneurship should be limited to the activities of small and medium-sized firms. Understanding the determinants and characteristics of growth firms may be more important than focussing on a single concept of entrepreneurship.

65. Although a single definition of entrepreneurship across OECD countries may not be feasible, or even desirable, it is important to have consistent definitions of the individual measures that will be assembled to understand entrepreneurship and the factors that influence those measures. Thus, we will define concepts like firm birth, self employment and high growth as well as specific concepts relating to

<sup>13.</sup> Kilby, Peter, Hunting the Heffalump, 1971.

firm financing, for example. It will be important to ensure that terminology is distinct and clear and that definitions are applied consistently across countries.

# Existing Entrepreneurship Data

66. While few, if any, meet all the requirements of analysts and policymakers for internationallycomparable data, there are numerous statistics relating to entrepreneurship already produced by governmental, quasi-governmental and private institutions. Many of these data sets are purely national and some focus only on special niche activities or a specific subset of the population. Other projects, though, have gathered data in numerous countries. Perhaps most well known is the GEM (Global Entrepreneurship Monitor) Project that has gathered information through both household surveys and specialist interviews since 1998.

67. In Europe, Eurostat has recently implemented the first "Factors of Business Success" (FoBS) survey, in a number of EU countries, and the European Commission's Eurobarometer has measured attitudes towards various aspects of entrepreneurship in both Europe and the USA. Other countries have also attempted to assess the entrepreneurial climate through similar attitudinal surveys.

68. Other programs measure important drivers or determinants of entrepreneurship such as access to finance or administrative and regulatory burden. Canada has a well established periodic survey that measures SMEs' access to finance through both supply-side and demand-side surveys. The US Federal Reserve carries out a periodic survey of small business finances (SSBF) and the University of Warwick recently conducted the first major study of SME finances in the UK.

# II. AN OECD PROPOSAL FOR INTERNATIONAL ENTREPRENEURSHIP INDICATORS

## A Collaborative Approach to Assembling and Developing Data

69. The importance of entrepreneurship to both developed and developing countries is clear and numerous efforts are either underway or under development to produce data to measure entrepreneurship and to shed light on the factors that encourage both entry into entrepreneurship and firm growth. But these efforts are largely undertaken in isolation. There have been few attempts to develop comparable international indicators and even at the national level the linkages between entrepreneurship policies and entrepreneurship data have not been clear. There is an active community of academic researchers who meet to discuss theoretical and some empirical work relating to entrepreneurship but there have been few forums for discussions of comparable international entrepreneurship data by statistical offices and perhaps fewer still that bring government entrepreneurship policy people together with data producers. The OECD Statistics Directorate proposes to work with countries and other international organisations to develop a program of entrepreneurship indicators that will enhance the comparability, and value, of existing data and develop new data to fill gaps in a co-ordinated manner.

70. The OECD proposal for entrepreneurship indicators is a simple one. We propose a collaborative process to build a set of entrepreneurship indicators for consistent, ongoing measurement and comparison across many OECD and non-OECD countries. The overall plan is ambitious yet realistic in that it consists of a step-by-step approach to building the necessary international partnerships, establishing a data collection infrastructure, assembling relevant data and sharing and disseminating the resulting set of indicators on entrepreneurship. Taken together, the indicators would form a periodic Entrepreneurship Scoreboard to assist countries in establishing goals, setting policies and monitoring progress. In order to ensure sound and coherent statistical practices across countries, we propose development of a Manual to set out a framework or list of entrepreneurship indicators along with descriptions and definitions of items to be measured, collection methodologies, output tabulations and other relevant aspects of the

measurement of entrepreneurship. Then we propose that the OECD, in association with other international organisations, member countries and participating non-member countries, proceed to fill in the indicator framework with existing and new data from several different sources, as outlined below.

71. First, we will exploit existing data in OECD, and possibly other, databases. Second, we will explore the availability of other entrepreneurship-related data that is available across a large number of countries, from surveys or administrative sources and, if appropriate, initiate new queries to build up additional OECD databases. Third, we will extend work that is already underway through both Eurostat and the OECD to harmonise Business Demography information and develop a number of entrepreneurship measures based on these register-based databases. Finally, we will institute a program of new, co-ordinated data collection using standardised methods and collection vehicles.

72. The OECD proposal recognises that not all countries are at the same stage of development with respect to entrepreneurship nor will they be able to devote the same level of resources to entrepreneurship measurement. By establishing a framework for entrepreneurship measurement, improving common understanding of definitions and concepts and establishing models and co-ordinated surveys for measurement, the programme will allow countries to raise the quality of entrepreneurship statistics as resources and interests permit. It is critical, though, that countries collaborate to develop the definitions, measures and survey modules so that, as data develops and improves, it will be internationally comparable.

73. Finally, critical to the success of all the Entrepreneurship Indicators Programme will be the establishment of an international network for discussion of entrepreneurship and SME data as well as an OECD Steering Group to ensure decisions are reached and outputs are produced.

74. In summary, the proposal comprises the following elements, which are elaborated further below:

- Produce a regular Scoreboard or Compendium on Entrepreneurship;
- Develop a Manual for entrepreneurship measurement;
- Gather standard international data based on existing and new sources; and,
- Establish an OECD Entrepreneurship Indicators Steering Group (EISG) and a Network for international entrepreneurship data development.

#### An International Scoreboard on Entrepreneurship

75. The OECD entrepreneurship programme would encompass a wide variety of practical statistical work, research conferences and other discussion forums in pursuit of better international entrepreneurship data. A proposed periodic Entrepreneurship Scoreboard would be a concrete and visible output of the various activities. This compilation of internationally-comparable data would address current and emerging policy issues relevant to both OECD and non-OECD countries. The Scoreboard would present entrepreneurship-related data in three general areas: First measures of level or rates of entrepreneurship, such as the number of start-ups in a period, would be presented. Second, various determinants of entrepreneurship, reflecting capacities and characteristics of entrepreneurs and the entrepreneurial climate or conditions of the countries, would be portrayed. Such "determinant" measures would include rates of taxation, measures of regulatory burden or educational and employment characteristics of both entrepreneurs and of the population as a whole. Finally, measures of performance for both firms and the economy as a whole, such as employment or productivity growth, would be included.

76. The Scoreboard would benchmark relative performance according to various indicators but it would not be intended to provide a composite measure or overall ranking of countries. There are numerous complex factors relating to entrepreneurship, competitiveness and overall economic performance and no single measure can guide policy-making decisions or determine "success". Furthermore, since policy objectives differ across countries the importance of high or low values of certain indicators may differ across countries. It is not even clear that a high or low value on a given indicator will have the same impact on performance in different countries. Some of the world's wealthiest countries, with high GDP growth rates and high per capita income display very low rates of entrepreneurship, at least by some current measures.

77. An Entrepreneurship Scoreboard would be modelled on other successful OECD work such as the Science, Technology and Industry (STI) Scoreboard. Essential findings would be presented in summary form and charts and figures would be used to portray the data. The underlying data would also be available through links, along with notes on methodology and sources. Given the relatively limited availability of internationally-comparable entrepreneurship data, the Scoreboard would initially contain a limited array of data and would be expanded as new data is developed and as policy interests evolve over time.

# A Manual for Measurement of Entrepreneurship

78. There is an extensive body of academic research on entrepreneurship and its impact on economic growth and employment, particularly dating from the 1980s. In order to understand entrepreneurship and how it varies across economies, several theoretical models have postulated relationships between various factors that establish entrepreneurship opportunities, supply of entrepreneurial talent, and enabling framework conditions. The interaction of all these factors in turn determines levels and types of entrepreneurial activities in an economy, viewed from various perspectives including new firm creation, survival or growth. As discussed earlier, there have also been numerous efforts to define entrepreneurship in both theoretical and practical terms. For example, measurement of entrepreneurship, based on the number of people involved in starting new firms, has been undertaken in a consistent manner, for a large number of countries, over a number of survey cycles by the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor program. Also, a number of national surveys exist that shed light on particular aspects of entrepreneurship or factors that may determine the amount and type of entrepreneurship that takes place in a country. Most of these initiatives have remained isolated, however, and few attempts have been made to compare experiences and develop agreement amongst National Statistics Offices on key definitions, survey methods and measurement priorities.

79. The OECD has a strong record in the development of Manuals to guide measurement in a variety of policy areas. Most notable are the OECD standards for measurement of innovation, R&D, productivity, capital, and the non-observed economy. We propose to develop a Manual for collection of data on entrepreneurship. Such a Manual would include a measurement framework, lists of minimum to ideal entrepreneurship indicators for consistent, ongoing cross-country measurement, standard concepts and definitions, and model questionnaires. Since the goal is the production of harmonised data, relevant for policy use, the work will be based, wherever possible, on definitions and methodologies already successfully in use in countries.

# A Model List of Entrepreneurship Indicators

80. Which indicators will constitute the appropriate package of international statistical measures on entrepreneurship and how do we go about identifying and agreeing on such a list? As noted, discussions in OECD Committees and Working Parties as well as a planned OECD Conference on Entrepreneurship data will help to establish the framework of desirable entrepreneurship data. It will be important for these discussions to involve policy-makers, researchers and suppliers of statistics to ensure that the framework is

realistic and relevant. The Framework should not simply be a 'wish list' of everything anyone would possibly want to know about entrepreneurship. The model list should include those items that are legitimately valuable for comparisons across countries. The list should also only include indicators that can feasibly be collected either at present or at some point in the foreseeable future and that will have real value in assisting countries to plan and evaluate their entrepreneurship policies and programs. Despite these restrictions, it is also important to be somewhat visionary in considering entrepreneurship indicators. The list need not be confined to readily available data or data that is already being collected by at least some countries. The framework will represent a longer term objective that may include items that are beyond current data collection techniques.

81. As a starting point for development of a model list of entrepreneurship indicators, an inventory of entrepreneurship-related measures, either already in existence or identified as potentially valuable, has been assembled by the EIP. A partial list is provided in Annex 1. Many of the existing measures are currently only available for a small number of countries and even then the precise measures used are rarely identical in different countries. Furthermore, many of the "measures" often cited in research papers and entrepreneurship publications are derived from case studies or expert interviews and do not yet qualify as "statistical measures". Nonetheless, the inventory will help to identify data sets that may be useful for establishing, monitoring and assessing entrepreneurship and SME policies. The inventory will be presented for discussion in various forums and eventually will be used by the EISG in the development of the framework for entrepreneurship data. Ultimately, the list of indicators must not only be measurable but <u>of value</u> to measure. In this regard, the OECD Quality Framework and Statistics Strategy has established three important and useful criteria for the development of indicators: they must be relevant, analytically sound and measurable.

82. Given limited budgets available for statistical work, proposed indicators will have to pass the real test of relevance and utility for policy makers and analysts since, in most countries, these data users will likely be required to supply or secure funding for actually developing the indicators.

### Concepts and Definitions

83. An essential step in the preparation of a Manual for internationally-comparable measures of entrepreneurship is development of the definitions and concepts of the various items to be measured. If, for example, we wish to compute the number or rate of "new firms" in an economy, and compare results across countries, we must agree on a clear definition of what a new firm is and what goes into the numerator and denominator to produce a rate. Other conceptual details relating to thresholds, time periods and coverage must also be considered and appropriate direction provided to those who wish to participate in the development of internationally-comparable data. The Entrepreneurship Indicators Steering Group will use a variety of forums to engage country representatives, international organisations and entrepreneurship experts in discussions aimed at producing concepts and definitions that lead to practical measurements.

84. Ultimately, a number of concepts and definitions will need to be established as the range of indicators expands to cover various aspects of entrepreneurship. Initially, key concepts such as the entrepreneur, firm birth, firm death, firm size categories and high growth firms will be required for even the most basic set of indicators. Concepts involved in counting new firms, such as registration thresholds, or in measuring the self employed also need to be established. Also of interest for international comparisons are the factors influencing entrepreneurship such as access to finance, regulatory and administrative burden or business education and advice. Definitions and concepts for consistent measurement of these factors will also be required. In many cases other OECD or international organisations have already considered and established definitions and we will not reinvent the wheel unnecessarily. While firm births are important, for many countries the revival or resumption of a firm,

through purchase or takeover of some or all the factors of production, is also important. Furthermore, interest in these "reprises", as they are called in French, will likely grow in the coming years since the demographic profile of today's business owners suggests that significant turnovers of firms will occur. Another priority for many countries is the consistent measurement of various aspects of financing of entrepreneurship and SMEs, including the very concept of a "financing gap".

85. It is not proposed, at this stage, that the Project attempt to establish a single definition for entrepreneurship. As the earlier discussion on definitions concluded, the term entrepreneurship has been widely used and loosely defined, if at all. It is unlikely that countries will want to focus on a single notion of entrepreneurship as a policy objective; rather they will be interested, for example, in boosting firm start-up rates, increasing the proportion of high-growth firms, and increasing reprises as a means of lowering firm closures. It is more important that they focus on quality measures for all these items than that they attempt to identify any one of them as the representative indicator for "entrepreneurship".

86. A number of proposed definitions have already been developed by Statistics Directorate as part of a Framework for Business Demography.<sup>14</sup>

# A Multi-Source Approach to Collecting and Developing Entrepreneurship Data

87. Data will be assembled for the OECD Entrepreneurship Indicators Programme from a variety of sources. These can be grouped under four general approaches to data development:

- Exploit existing data in OECD and other databases;
- Commence new data collections from NSOs;
- Extend harmonization work on Business Demography; and,
- Undertake a program of OECD co-ordinated entrepreneurship surveys.

## Existing Data in OECD and Other Databases

88. Virtually all OECD countries, and some non-OECD countries, can benefit from at least some of the comparable indicators in the overall framework. By exploiting data that countries already provide for existing OECD databases, the objective would be to establish a minimum set of indicators that could be produced with little or no additional burden or expense for the country. Some additional information may be required to assist the OECD in enhancing comparability but for this category of "existing data" it is not anticipated that countries would be required to respond to major new data queries from the OECD.

89. An example of existing data is the labour force information developed and maintained by the Employment, Labour and Social Affairs (ELSA) and Statistics (STD) Directorates at the OECD. While few analysts would agree that one can measure entrepreneurship simply by counting the number of self-employed, data on business ownership (or self-employment) paint at least a partial picture of the level or rate of entrepreneurial activity in a country or region. The OECD data on self-employment are not strictly comparable, given different definitions and measurement in countries, and some work would be necessary before international indicators could be produced. The EIM Research Group in The Netherlands has already done considerable work to harmonise the OECD self employment data so we would propose to explore use of these data, and/or the established harmonisation methodology, after appropriate consultations with countries, rather than undertake a new harmonisation process from scratch. The OECD also has structural business statistics by size class that will allow presentation of a profile of the SME sector in a country. Here too, few would equate SMEs with entrepreneurship but comparable data on the size and nature of the SMEs across countries does contribute to an understanding of entrepreneurship.

<sup>14.</sup> Ahmad 2006.

Other examples of existing OECD data that may provide indicators relevant to the understanding of entrepreneurship include innovation R&D and investment. Furthermore GDP growth rates, productivity measures and other macro statistics will be useful in monitoring the possible impacts of different rates of entrepreneurship, though given the myriad factors at play it is unlikely that any direct causal link between entrepreneurship and, say, economic growth will ever be clearly established. Other potential sources of "existing data" are high-quality databases of international scope developed by other organisations that could be shared with the OECD and integrated into an overall framework. Examples include the aforementioned EIM data, Eurobarometer Surveys and the World Bank's "On Doing Business" database.

#### New Data Queries to Obtain Existing Data from Countries

90. We also propose to move beyond the data already collected for various OECD databases and explore whether any other commonly-held data at NSOs could be useful for building indicators on entrepreneurship. An enquiry of all National Statistics Offices (NSOs) and Entrepreneurship Policy bodies will be undertaken in the first half of 2006 to determine what data sets, if any, are used to understand entrepreneurship and inform policy. Negotiations will then be undertaken to determine whether it is feasible to collect and harmonise the appropriate data sets from countries to build international indicators. However, while a comprehensive investigation of entrepreneurship-related data available from NSOs has not yet been undertaken, informal queries suggest that there is relatively little scope for developing significant, new entrepreneurship indicators in this way, with the exception of register-based business dynamics data which is discussed as a separate case, below. Nevertheless, an organised inventory of entrepreneurship data produced, used or desired in OECD countries will lay the groundwork for discussions on common definitions and measurement methods as we move forward to fill data gaps.

#### Register-Based Data

91. As noted earlier, one approach to measurement of entrepreneurship favoured by many analysts is to determine the number or rate of new firms being created within an economy, sector or geographic region. As is the case with other measures, there is not universal agreement that new firm formation is the best measure of entrepreneurship but it is certainly widely used and oft-quoted, in one form or another. The GEM estimates of nascent entrepreneurship, discussed above, serve as a proxy for new firm creation as they measure new entrepreneurs rather than new firms. Virtually all OECD countries, however, maintain complete registers of all businesses that can be used to produce a wide variety of accurate measures on firm entry, exit and growth, by industry and region. Unfortunately, in the past, there has been little standardisation of the definitions, registration methods, or thresholds for business registration across countries so, while accurate measures were available for national measurement, no cross country comparisons of register-based data were possible. Furthermore, since the business registers are generally assembled to assist with the collection of survey data and were not intended to be used as sources of data themselves, demands for improvements to the registers to enable better data outputs are not treated with the highest priority. This situation has begun to change in recent years. In Europe, Eurostat has worked with a number of EU countries on a voluntary program to produce standard outputs on business demography. While there are still gaps in the data outputs, and not all EU member countries are participating, the work is very promising. The EU Regulation on statistical business registers, requiring all countries to comply with Eurostat standards for coverage and content, is also being revised. The version expected to be introduced in 2006 will widen coverage, introduce new variables, and require the recoding of overseas links. Given the recent expansion of the EU, this will be a major step towards increased harmonisation of register-based data in Europe. In addition, the OECD Statistics Directorate has undertaken a study of all the factors that reduce comparability of register based data on firm dynamics<sup>15</sup> and has developed a

<sup>15.</sup> Vale 2006.

framework for business demography statistics<sup>16</sup>. This work is proceeding in parallel with the OECD's Entrepreneurship Indicators Project and the business demography programme will constitute an important source of entrepreneurship indicators.

# New OECD-Led Entrepreneurship Surveys

92. While the collaborative activities discussed above will be instrumental in building a foundation for quality, comparable entrepreneurship data, it is already known that there are many topics of interest to policy makers for which no internationally-comparable data exists. Also, many countries are considering developing, or are already developing, additional national data on entrepreneurship. While these initiatives will be useful for understanding entrepreneurship within the national context, the value of the data will be much greater if it can be compared to data for a number of other countries. However, there is currently no international forum where NSOs can meet to learn of entrepreneurship statistics activities underway in other countries and collaborate to benefit from each others experiences and to ensure that data is collected on a common basis and disseminated in a multi-country format. To help fill data gaps and to enhance the value of current or planned data collections, the OECD proposal includes a programme to co-ordinate international entrepreneurship surveys. The principal objective of this initiative would be to conduct a periodic, standard entrepreneurship survey in all participating countries. A separate governance and management body would be established to oversee this work and the OECD Statistics Directorate would serve as the Secretariat. Though final decisions on any and all aspects of the international survey, including type of survey, periodicity, target populations and questionnaire content, would be agreed to by the participating countries through the governance body, the present Paper includes some recommendations.

93. While a number of useful variables concerning entrepreneurship attitudes and the level of entrepreneurial activity are collected through household surveys, the relatively small proportion of entrepreneurs in the total population yields a small sample for more in-depth analysis of entrepreneur and firm characteristics. Also, as discussed above, harmonised business registers are an important element of this overall for better entrepreneurship data. The registers show great promise as a source of firm data, especially on new firm birth and basic evolution, but they reveal little or nothing about the entrepreneur and they can't provide any details on things such as financing, innovation, networks, marketing and organisational structures. Thus, to provide further information about determinants of entrepreneurship and firm growth, we recommend a periodic firm survey that would be conducted by the NSOs with samples to be drawn from the same official Business Registers that are used to provide the Business Demography data discussed above.

94. The target populations for co-ordinated international entrepreneurship surveys would vary depending on the specific topics of interest for each survey cycle. Nevertheless, even while an international survey might target different populations at different points in time, it would be very important to establish clear definitions of the populations of interest and to apply them consistently over countries and over time. Thus, for example, the survey might target high-growth firms, newly-created firms, young-but-established firms or even older firms but each of these would be clearly defined. Furthermore, when a specific sub-population is targeted, such as high-growth firms within a certain age or size category, it will also be important to collect data for the entire population of firms in that age or size category so that data for a control group is also available.

# A Pilot Survey on Entrepreneurship

95. While some countries will be satisfied with basic measures of entrepreneurship others are already putting a high priority on the development of new data on particular aspects and determinants of

<sup>16.</sup> Ahmad 2006.

entrepreneurship. For example, a number of OECD countries have already identified improved understanding of high growth firms and the entrepreneurs responsible for them, as a priority. A first step in undertaking any new data collection would be implementation of a Pilot Survey in 2007. In addition to providing important new information for the participating countries, the pilot survey will enable the OECD and its partners to develop and test the governance and management structures and other aspects of international collaboration that will be required to complete the Manual on Entrepreneurship Measurement and to enable ongoing, periodic collection of international entrepreneurship data. The key objective is to develop a common data collection vehicle, designed and implemented in a collaborative way across a number of countries.

#### An OECD Network for International Entrepreneurship Data Development

96. The OECD is an ideal forum for bringing together the appropriate country representatives and other international experts to agree on the data required for entrepreneurship policy and on the approach to producing the required data on an internationally-comparable basis. We propose that an Entrepreneurship Indicators Steering Group (EISG) be established to lead the work on development of international indicators on entrepreneurship. This body would report to the Statistics Committee and membership would include representatives from those countries that wish to participate actively in the development of entrepreneurship indicators, especially during Phase Two work. In addition to the country delegates, representatives from OECD Directorates that conduct analysis and develop policy recommendation relating to entrepreneurship would be asked to join the group to advise on policy-related data needs. This group would include the Centre for Entrepreneurship, SMEs and Local Development (CFE), DAF and ECO. Other international organisations with interest in entrepreneurship statistics, notably Eurostat and the International Consortium on Dynamic Entrepreneurship Benchmarking, would also be invited to participate.

97. The EISG would have links to a variety of other OECD bodies that are already engaged in the development and maintenance of data sets that can contribute to our understanding of entrepreneurship. Thus bodies such as the Working party of National Experts on Science and Technology Indicators (NESTI), with responsibility for innovation data, ELSA and STD, with responsibility for Labour Force data, and the Structural Business Statistics Expert Group (SBS Net), with responsibility for business statistics, enterprise demography and other structural business surveys, would all contribute to the development of entrepreneurship indicators.

98. While the development and implementation of the entrepreneurship indicators programme would be the responsibility of the EISG, it is important that the various proposals developed by the Steering Group be presented and discussed at a number of different OECD and other international forums. Indeed, it will be crucial for the EISG to work closely with those bodies responsible for discussing entrepreneurship policy to ensure that data priorities for policy-makers are properly understood and reflected in both longer-term data development plans and shorter term outputs. Furthermore, since not all countries will choose to have a representative on the EISG, it will be important to report on plans and developments to those interested bodies that have broad country representation. Within the OECD, those entrepreneurship policy bodies include the WPSME and the Committee on Industry and Business Environment (CIBE).

99. The EISG would oversee several key aspects of the entrepreneurship indicators programme including the development of the Manual for Measurement, the establishment of data priorities and new data collection, including a Pilot Survey in 2007. Since much of the statistical expertise regarding entrepreneurship exists outside the OECD Directorates, it is critical that development of the entrepreneurship indicators programme be collaborative, with substantive inputs from the participating countries and other international organisations.

## Advantages of OECD-led International Measurement

100. There are numerous advantages to assembling and/or collecting entrepreneurship data within an OECD-co-ordinated international indicators program, rather than through national data activities alone. A co-ordinated effort has advantages for identification and prioritisation of policy-relevant statistical activities, for development and implementation of measurements themselves and for the presentation and distribution of results.

101. First, those responsible for entrepreneurship statistics programs will benefit from the opportunity to review the entrepreneurship policy priorities and evaluation methodologies of other OECD countries. An international programme will stimulate a dialogue between policy-analysts and statisticians, not only within but also amongst countries, which will improve the relevance of the statistical work. The objective of this indicator program is to produce practical, policy-relevant measures of entrepreneurship and its determinants. The OECD is an ideal forum for bringing together policy and statistical experts to ensure that planned indicators are indeed relevant for analysing entrepreneurship issues, developing policies and programs and monitoring their impacts. Among OECD delegates to various committees are those responsible for assisting and advising policy-makers and for implementing programs in support of government policy on entrepreneurship. Also part of the OECD network are the statistical experts who respond to user needs in member countries with professional, high-quality statistical programs. The entrepreneurship indicator programme will allow these policy and statistical experts to share experiences in understanding the factors that stimulate or hinder entrepreneurship. By working together they can develop definitions, measurement tools and data outputs that permit comparisons across countries.

102. There are obvious benefits of international comparisons based on standardised concepts, definitions and measurement tools. Existing data show that there are significant differences in levels of entrepreneurship between countries. But, since little comparable data exists across a large number of countries on the underlying conditions and stimuli that generate entrepreneurship, it is difficult to undertake multi-country analysis and share best practices. By establishing definitions of entrepreneurship that are relevant to the policy interests of all participating countries, and measuring the factors that may encourage or discourage entrepreneurship using common questionnaires and other measurement tools, countries can determine how their practices, and outcomes differ. Policies will always differ, but sound international data can help countries determine the costs and benefits of different policies in terms of their impact on entrepreneurship.

103. A co-ordinated, joint effort can also yield economies of scale in the development of the tools and questions. Rather than each country grappling independently with issues of target population, survey frames, data collection methodology, questions and questionnaire design, work could be distributed among participating countries and common approaches adapted through pooling of expertise. In addition to cost savings such an approach will permit exploitation of synergies of expert collaboration.

104. The National Statistics Offices (NSOs) are important partners in the development of entrepreneurship indicators. They already collect data on various aspects of firm behaviour that will be useful for deriving some entrepreneurship-relevant data and their methodological expertise and practical experience will be invaluable in establishing any new entrepreneurship surveys. Furthermore, the NSOs normally maintain the statistical business registers that will be central to the development of improved business demography data that will contribute to the indicator programme. The OECD's direct links to NSOs will facilitate the development of entrepreneurship indicators.

# **Priority Topics for New Data Collection**

105. The precise information to be collected through a Pilot Survey will be determined by the Entrepreneurship Indicators Steering Group and the participants in the program. In exchanges through a network of academic and government analysts, however, certain common themes have already emerged. The topics that are highest priority for the countries that have expressed interest in Phase II include high growth entrepreneurship, financing, innovation, use of ICTs and other technology, and entrepreneurship education. Also of interest is the impact of administrative and regulatory environment on both the creation and growth of firms. While many users are seeking coherent international data, a number of analysts have noted the paucity of regional or local data as well.

106. The notes below illustrate why topics such as the characteristics and determinants of high growth firms and the financing of entrepreneurship and SMEs are among the priority areas for improving entrepreneurship data.

## High Growth Firms

107. There are still debates about the contribution of new firm entrants to net employment growth but there is little disagreement about the fact that a relatively small proportion of firms that are growing rapidly account for the majority of new jobs. The Canadian Growth Firms Project, for example, showed that 2.7% of firms met the criteria for "leading growth firms" and they accounted for 60% of job growth between 1997 and 2000.<sup>17</sup> Naturally, governments are particularly interested in this category of firms and want to understand determinants of and obstacles to, high growth. But while there are numerous examinations of high growth firms throughout OECD countries, there is no agreement whatsoever on just what high growth means. What are the appropriate metrics and thresholds to measure growth? Many studies focus solely on growth in employment, often because it is more readily available on business dynamics databases than other suggested measures such as payroll, sales, revenue, profit, or productivity.

108. To date, many studies have been limited to identifying the number of growth firms and their contributions to growth, measured in terms of employment or some other metric. Policy makers wish to go beyond this basic analysis to understand the characteristics of the firms, and perhaps the entrepreneurs, as well as the determinants of growth.

109. The United States is often viewed as the epitome of entrepreneurship with high rates of new firm creation and more young, large firms than other countries. But some comparisons show that the start-up rate is not all that different across countries, while growth performance after start-up is. The OECD (Scarpetta 2002) found that US firm entrants were smaller than their European counterparts but, once over the initial start-up phase, they expanded rapidly while European firms remained small. Figure 1 compares US start-up rates to those of a number of European countries, while Figure 2 compares the distribution of SMEs by size class in the US and Europe. While the size classes presented are different in the two pie charts they nonetheless reveal that Europe has a much higher proportion of micro firms (under 9 or 10 employees, and a much smaller proportion in all size classes above that.

<sup>17.</sup> Growth Firm Workshop Synopsis, Industry Canada, Sept 29, 2004.



Figure 2. A Comparison of US and European Business Start-Up Rates

Sources

United States – Firm Size Data – Small Business Administration. EU Mean – Mean start-up rate for the European countries shown. Other countries – Eurostat (The full Eurostat data set includes several other countries, but only those for which data are available for at least three of the above years are shown).



Figure 3. Share of Business Firms by Size Class, United States and Europe

110. Since firm growth rates vary considerably across countries an international comparison of factors and results is very much of interest to those designing policies and programmes. It will be important, though, to ensure that any data collected on high growth firms and their entrepreneurs is matched with data on the non-high growth firms to permit meaningful analysis.

## Financing of Entrepreneurship and SMEs

111. Since SMEs comprise 95% or more of all companies across OECD countries, it is not surprising that financing of entrepreneurship and SMEs continues to be a focus of attention of SME lobby groups, government policy analysts, academic researchers and other stakeholders. Yet, it appears to be an area conventional wisdom has been challenged in a number of cases. In Canada, concerns about bank financing of SMEs let to a major government effort involving statistical data collection and policy analysis. The "SME Financing Data Initiative" showed that 82% of SMEs obtained the financing they sought in 2000. That proportion dropped to 74% in 2001, a year of much slower economic growth. Only 23% of Canadian SMEs requested debt financing in 2000, though that proportion varied by size of firm with larger SMEs more likely to request debt.<sup>18</sup> Similar finding were evident from recent studies for the UK and for the EU

<sup>18.</sup> Statistics Canada, "Financing of Small and Medium Enterprises", The Daily, January 15, 2002.

as a whole, though in both cases questions were raised about differential rates of successful access to financing by gender and by ethnic group.<sup>19</sup>

112. Given the apparent success of entrepreneurs in obtaining debt financing, in at least some OECD countries, questions have turned from supply of debt financing to demand. Why is it that entrepreneurs and SMEs make little use of debt financing and would greater use of debt financing have an impact on the evolution and growth of entrepreneurial firms? what affects the capacity of firms to access and use debt financing?

113. A survey of both OECD and non-OECD countries, undertaken by the WPSME for the Global Conference On SME Financing in Brazil, also revealed that government officials in most OECD countries felt that there was not a significant gap in debt financing for SMEs. However, financing difficulties for SMEs were more evident among the non-OECD countries and in all cases detailed data for analysis and international comparisons were largely unavailable. The preparatory work done for that Global Conference has underscored the dearth of international data on SME and entrepreneurship financing and called for the OECD to address the situation.

114. Since many OECD countries are particularly interested in boosting the number of high growth entrepreneurs, there is growing interest in equity financing and questions about why equity financing rates seem to vary across countries. The role of venture capital and other forms of financing, in stimulating entrepreneurship and firm growth has been of particular interest. Many countries feel that they must develop venture capital markets in order to rival American firm growth records. Studies have often noted that the lack of established venture capital markets is one reason why European countries sometimes show high rates of star-ups but lag behind the USA in firm growth. But, in the U.S., only 17% of venture capital goes into companies that are in the early stages of development; most venture capital goes into expansion phase or later stage firms. Also, most firms on the Inc. list of 500 fastest growing firms did not get venture capital.<sup>20</sup>

115. The WPSME Survey also revealed a lack of comparable data on venture capital across countries. There is a need to establish standard concepts and definitions and collect data on a consistent basis to permit international comparisons and analysis.

# Summary

116. A number of countries have led the way with measures of entrepreneurship and its determinants but consultations and research have revealed a lack of detailed data for international comparisons and analysis. The OECD provides an ideal forum to bring together existing data and help develop new data in a consistent and comparable manner. The OECD has received strong support for developing better data on entrepreneurship and SMEs both from the OECD community and outside organisations and researchers. The Statistics Directorate will proceed with the development of an international program of entrepreneurship indicators a program in collaboration with other international bodies as well as with the national statistical organisations. As outlined in this Paper, establishment of an Entrepreneurship Indicators Steering Group will be the first action in the step-by-step approach to development of better entrepreneurship data.

<sup>19.</sup> Eurobarometer, "SME Access to Finance; Executive Summary" European Commission, Directorate-General for Enterprise and Industry, October 2005; and Fraser, Stuart, "Finance for Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises; A Report on the 2004 UK Survey of SME Finances", Warwick Business School, 2005.

<sup>20.</sup> Carl Schramm, Foreign Affairs, Vol 83, No. 4.

#### ANNEX 1. POSSIBLE ENTREPRENEURSHIP INDICATORS

Which indicators will constitute the "ideal" package of international statistical measures on entrepreneurship? The ideal list is not simply everything everyone would possibly want to know about entrepreneurship. Rather, it will reflect a balance of what is useful and what is measurable. The ultimate list should comprise indicators that can feasibly be collected or otherwise quantified, at some point, and that will have real value in assisting countries to plan and evaluate their entrepreneurship policies and programs. Also, for an international "scoreboard", such as this OECD exercise, the ideal list should focus on those indicators that are useful for comparisons across countries.

Despite the above, it is important to be somewhat visionary in considering entrepreneurship indicators. We should not restrict ourselves to measures that we know are easily collectable or producible today. Improvements to existing databases may well allow production of useful, comparable data in the future that seems impossible today. ALSO, we don't really know yet what influences entrepreneurship. We need to establish measures, encourage research and, eventually, refine work based on empirical work.

In order to establish the appropriate list, however, it is useful to begin with a more-extensive list of conceivable measures and a framework for understanding what the indicators mean, how they interact and which are useful. Then we begin with a more comprehensive shopping list. From this list we will pare down, using input from users and from those bearing the costs of data collection, in order to obtain a framework of indicators that contains useful, relevant and feasible data that also represents sufficient value to warrant the costs of creation and maintenance.

The OECD's framework of entrepreneurship indicators will consist of data from a variety of sources. Existing data from national statistics offices, based on both surveys and administrative records will be exploited wherever possible. However, the number of indicators that can be produced using existing data, are limited as the same data must exist for numerous countries and some harmonisation of definitions and methodologies of the national data sets must either have already taken place, or be feasible in the relatively short term. For example, it should be possible to include relevant labour market data that have already been harmonised across most OECD countries and that are easily accessible on OECD databases. Also, there has been some promising work done on harmonisation of business register data for many EU countries, through the Eurostat Business Demography Project. Work at the OECD has examined the feasibility of enhancing the comparability of register-based business start-up data across both EU and non-EU countries as well.

New, standardised data collection across all countries participating in the Entrepreneurship Indicators Programme will constitute a second source of entrepreneurship indicators. The target populations for such a survey could be both firms and households though it is likely that firm surveys will be a more effective means of obtaining data relevant to the study of entrepreneurship.

Finally, other, non-official sources of entrepreneurship data will be considered for inclusion in the entrepreneurship indicators. It will be critical to ensure that data quality meets OECD standards.

#### **Categories of Indicators**

The eventual system of OECD entrepreneurship indicators will be presented in relation to a policy framework that will be elaborated with the assistance and involvement of OECD countries through the processes discussed in the Report itself. The list below is presented simply to illustrate a range of possible indicators across a wide variety of policy areas. These have been grouped in a structure that borrows loosely from the policy frameworks elaborated by Lundstrom and Stevenson and by FORA.

An OECD system of entrepreneurship indicators would contain only a subset of this total list. In many cases, quantifiable indicators don't yet exist for the items listed and it would be difficult to establish measures that meet the OECD quality criteria. At the same time, the list is not comprehensive; deliberations with country representatives will generate other suggested indicators. Furthermore, the system of indicators will evolve and improve as analysts and researchers work with international data and develop a better understanding of the entrepreneurial process.

**I Entrepreneurship Performance Indicators** - These indicators measure how a country is performing in terms of entrepreneurship. They pertain to the amount or rate of entrepreneurship and measure the outcome of the outcome of the entrepreneurship process

- Rate of new firm start-ups (e.g. new firms/population of active existing firms)
- Rates of individual entrepreneurial activity (new entrepreneurs/population)
- Business churn ((rates of the total dynamic of entry and exit)
- Rate of self-employment (self employment/labour force)
- Business ownership rate (Number and/or rate of employer business owners
- Measures of business volume (turnover) of new firms, self-employment, owner firms
- Survival rate for new businesses
- Rate of high-growth (and/or innovative) firms
- Measures of reactivations, revivals and/or resumptions
- Number of SMEs and importance of SMEs in total economy
- Share of employment in SMEs
- Distribution of firms by age (proportion of young firms)
- Measures of non-market or social entrepreneurship

II Entrepreneurship impact Indicators – These indicators measure the impact or outcome of entrepreneurship

- Employment creation by SMEs or start-ups
- Turnover of young or new or high-growth firms
- Level of exports by young/new firms
- Contribution of firms to productivity growth by size, age, etc.

**III Determinants of entrepreneurship** – These are the indicators that measure various aspects of the conditions and qualities that stimulate, support or perhaps deter entrepreneurship. Understanding these conditions is key to ensuring that a country's policies are conducive to the kind of entrepreneurship, and the resulting impacts of entrepreneurship, that are sought.

## (i) Factors relating to entrepreneurship opportunities

## **Entry Barriers**

- Barriers to competition
- Degree of Public ownership
- Degree of Public involvement in business operations

## **Technology infrastructure and support**

- University/industry research collaboration
- Technological cooperation
- Measures of technology transfer data
- Broadband access
- Patent system
- R&D data

### Access to Foreign Markets

- Export propensity of new and/or small firms
- Comparative measures of export credits and insurance

### (ii) Factors Relating to Access to Capital

- Measures of access to debt financing
- Costs of debt financing by firm size and age
- Comparative indicators of wealth and bequest taxes
- Existence and nature of business angel financing
- Size and performance of Venture Capital markets
- Capital Taxes
- Stock Markets

## (iii) Factors Relating to Entrepreneurs and the Supply of Entrepreneurial Ability

- Socio-demographic characteristics of entrepreneurs
- Education and experience of entrepreneurs
- Availability and quality of business and entrepreneurship education
- Restart Possibilities
- Availability and quality of public and private entrepreneurship support infrastructure

# (iv) Factors Relating to the Entrepreneurship Environment (Incentives)

- Personal income tax
- Business tax and fiscal incentives
- Characteristics of new firms (coupled with measures of growth or success)
- Social security incentives and/or deterrents
- Administrative burdens
- Product market regulations
- Compliance burden: regulatory burden,
- Labour market regulations
- Bankruptcy protection and restart possibilities
- Protection of investors and business interactions
- Barriers to exit of firms

## (v) Factors Relating to the Entrepreneurship Climate and Culture

- Attitudes towards entrepreneurs, business owners, risk
- Desire for business ownership or self employment

#### **ANNOTATED BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Acs, Z., Arenius, P., Hay, M. and Minniti, M. (2004), "Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, 2004 Executive Report", Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, Babson College, and London Business School.
- Ahmad, Nadim, (2006), "A Proposed Framework For Business Demography Statistics", Internal Working Paper, Statistics Directorate, OECD, March 2006.
- Audretsch, DB, Santarelli E and Vivarelli, M. (1999), "Start-Up Size And Industrial Dynamics: Some Evidence From Italian Manufacturing", International Journal of Industrial Organization 17 (7), pp. 965-983.
- Audretsch, D. and Thurik, R. (2001a), "Linking Entrepreneurship to Growth", STI Working papers 2001/2, OECD, Paris.
- Audretsch, D. B. (2002), "Entrepreneurship: A Survey of the Literature", prepared for the European Commission, Enterprise Directorate.
- Autio, E. (2005), "Report on High-Expectation Entrepreneurship" Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, Babson College, and London Business School.
- Bartelsman, E. J., S. Scarpetta and F. Schivardi, "Comparative Analysis Of Firm Demographics And Survival: Micro-Level Evidence For The OECD Countries", OECD Economics Dept Working Paper, 2002.
- Birch, D. (1979), "The Job Generation Process", Department Of Urban Studies And Planning, Cambridge, MA: MIT press.
- Bygrave, W. (1989), "The Entrepreneurship Paradigm (II): Chaos And Catastrophes Among Quantum Jumps", Entrepreneurship, Theory And Practice 14 (2), pp. 2-30.
- Brusco, S. (1986), "Small Firms And Industrial Districts: The Experience Of Italy", In D. Keeble And E. Wever, New Firms And Regional Development In Europe, London, Kroom Helm, pp. 184-202.
- Casson, M. (1990), "Entrepreneurship", International Library of Critical Writings in Economics. Vol. 13
- Casson, M. (2003), "The Entrepreneur-An Economic Theory", Edward Elgar Press (first edition 1982).
- Conway, P. (2005), "Product Market Regulation And Productivity Growth", OECD Economics Department Working Papers, Paris.
- Drucker, P. (1985), "Innovation and Entrepreneurship", Butterworth-Heinemann.
- European Commission, (2003), "Green Paper, Entrepreneurship in Europe", Brussels.
- European Commission, (2003) "The Summary Report, The Public Debate Following the Green Paper on Entrepreneurship In Europe", Brussels.
- European Commission, (2004), "Action Plan: The European Agenda for Entrepreneurship", Brussels.
- Eurostat (2004), "Business Demography In Europe- Results For 10 Member States And Norway", European Commission, Luxembourg.

- Gartner, W. (1989), "Who is an entrepreneur? is the wrong question", Entrepreneurship, Theory And Practice, Summer: pp. 47-68.
- Hébert, R., Link, A. (1989), "In Search Of The Meaning Of Entrepreneurship", Small Business Economics 1, pp. 39-49.
- Iversen, J., Jørgensen, R., Malchow-Møller, N., Schjerning, B. (2005), "Defining And Measuring Entrepreneurship", Discussion Paper 2005-17, CEBR- Center for Economic and Business Research
- Karlsson, C., Friis, C., Paulsson, T. (2004), "Relating Entrepreneurship To Economic Growth", CESIS/JIBS, Forthcoming Paper in "The Emerging Digital Economy: Entrepreneurship, Clusters and Policy", Springer-Verlag, Berlin (2005). Editors: B. Johansson, C. Karlsson & R.R. Stough.
- Kauffman Foundation (2004), "State Entrepreneurship Policies and Programmes", Ewing Marion Kauffman Foundation.
- Knight, F. (1971), "Risk, Uncertainty And Profit", University of Chicago, Chicago (1st edition 1921).
- Knight, K. (1967), "A Descriptive Model Of The Intra-Firm Innovation Process", Journal of Business of the University of Chicago, Vol 40.
- Langlois, R. (1991), "Schumpeter And The Obsolescence Of The Entrepreneur", Working Paper 91-1503. University of Connecticut. 13.
- Lundström, A. and Stevenson, L. (2001), "Entrepreneurship Policy For The Future", Stockholm: Swedish Foundation for Small Business Research.
- Lundström, A. and Stevenson, L. (2002), "On The Road To Entrepreneurship Policy", Stockholm: Swedish Foundation for Small Business Research.
- Lundström, A. and Stevenson, L. (2005), "Entrepreneurship Policy: Theory and Practice", International Studies in Entrepreneurship, Springer, 2005.
- Marshall, A. (1890), "Principles of Economics", Reprinted in 1997, Prometheus, UK.
- Mata, J. (1994), "Firm Growth During Infancy", Small Business Economics, 6(1), pp. 27-40.
- Michelsen, V.N. and Hoffman, A. (2005), "A General Policy Framework For Entrepreneurship", Ministry of Economic and Business Affairs- Division For Research and Analysis (FORA)
- Nolan, A. (2003), "Entrepreneurship and Local Economic Development", OECD, Paris.
- OECD, (1997), "Globalisation and SMEs" vol. 1&2, Paris.
- OECD, (1998) "Fostering Entrepreneurship And Women Entrepreneurs In SMEs", Paris.
- OECD, (2001b), "Business Views On Red Tape: Administrative and Regulatory Burdens on SMEs", Paris.
- OECD, (2001a), "Drivers Of Growth", Paris.
- OECD, (2005), "SME & Entrepreneurship Outlook", CFE, Paris.

- OECD, (2005), "Micro-Policies for Growth and Productivity", Paris.
- Pilat, D. (2002) "Factors of Success and Entrepreneurship Strategies for Statistical Development", Paper for SWIC, OECD, Paris.
- Reynolds, P. (1991), "Sociology and Entrepreneurship: Concepts and Contributions" Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice, vol. 16, No. 2, pp. 47-70.
- Reynolds, P. (1999), "Creative Destruction: Source Of Symptom Of Economic Growth?", in Acs, Z., Carlsson, B., Karlsson, C. (eds.) Entrepreneurship, small and medium-sized enterprises and the macro economy, Cambridge: Cambridge University press, pp. 97-136.
- Reynolds, P., Bygrave, W., Autio, E. et al. (2003) "Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, 2003 Executive Report", Global Entrepreneurship Monitor, Babson College, and London Business School.
- Reynolds, P., Bosma, N.S., Autio, E. et al. (2005), "Global Entrepreneurship Monitor-data collection design and implementation 1998-2003", Small Business Economics, **24**(3), pp. 205-231.
- Say, J.B. (1803), "A Treatise On Political Economy", reprinted in 2001 by Transaction Publishers.
- Scarpetta, Hemmings, Tressel, Woo (2002), "The Role of Policy and Institutions for Productivity and Firm Dynamics: Evidence from Micro and Industry Data", OECD Economics Department Working Paper No. 329, 2002.
- Schreyer, P. (1996), "SMEs and Employment Creation: Overview of Selected Quantitative Studies in OECD Member Countries", STI Working Papers 1996/4, OECD, Paris.
- Sternberg and Wennekers, 2005, "Determinants And Effects Of New Business Creation Using Global Entrepreneurship Monitor Data" in Small Business Economics, **24** (3) pp. 193-203.
- Storey, D. (1994), "Understanding the Small Business Sector", London: Rutledge.
- Storey, D. J. (2003), "Entrepreneurship, Small and Medium Sized Enterprises and Public Policies", in Acs, Z.J. and Audretsch, D. B (eds) Handbook of Entrepreneurship Research. London: Kluwer Academic Publishers, pp. 473-511.
- Thurik, R. (1996), "Small Firms, Entrepreneurship And Economic Growth", in Admiraal, P., "Small Business In The Modern Economy", De Vries lectures in economics, Oxford: Blackwell Publishers.
- Van Stel, A. and Stunnenberg, V. (2004), "Linking Business Ownership And Perceived Administrative Complexity- An Empirical Analysis Of 18 OECD Countries", Max Planck Institute of Economics, Group for Entrepreneurship, Growth and Public Policy No. 3504.
- Vale, Stephen, (2006), "International Comparison of Start-up Rates", internal Working Paper, Statistics Directorate, OECD, January 2006.
- Wennekers, S. and Thurik, R. (1999), "Linking Entrepreneurship And Economic Growth", Small Business Economics, **13**, pp. 27-55.